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FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW


On August 6, 2001, the Fraternal Order of Eagles #3667, B-1929 (Eagles) filed a petition appealing a final decision of the Missouri Gaming Commission (Gaming) suspending the Eagles’ bingo license for the possession of gambling devices.  We stayed Gaming’s decision and convened a hearing on the complaint on January 7, 2002.  Assistant Attorney General Michael W. Bradley represented Gaming.  Fred R. Bunch represented the Eagles.  The last written argument was filed on April 8, 2002.

Findings of Fact

1. At all relevant times, the Eagles held bingo License No. B-1929, under which they conducted bingo games in their building at 723 North Third Street, Clinton, Missouri.    

2. On or about March 7, 2001, Gaming received a complaint against the Eagles indicating that the Eagles might have possession of illegal gambling devices.

3. At approximately 4:00 p.m. on April 19, 2001, Gaming staff, including five Missouri State Highway Patrol officers (officers) permanently assigned to Gaming, went to Eagles to do an inspection.  The Gaming staff entered the west side building at the public entrance to the bingo hall.  Gaming did not have a search warrant.  The bingo games did not start on that day until 6:00 p.m.   

4. A member of the Eagles escorted three of the officers through the building on a premises inspection.  The Eagle member showed the officers the entire building, except for one room in the southeast corner of the building that was locked and was accessible only by electronic card swipe by Eagles members.

5. When the officers asked the Eagle member to open the locked room, the Eagle member ignored the officers and finally walked out of the building.  The officers followed him outside to the parking lot where the Eagle member drove away in a red pickup truck.

6. The officers returned to the building where they asked the bartender if he had an electronic card to open the room.  The bartender had a card and opened the door for the officers. Inside the room were eleven Cherry Master machines.  The officers inspected the machines to determine how they worked.  The officers telephoned the owner of the machines.  The owner went to the Eagles’ premises and opened each machine, which allowed Gaming to do a detailed inspection of each machine.

7. It was determined in the locked room at Eagles on April 19, 2001, that each of the eleven machines operated as follows:

a. A player initially received credits by inserting paper currency or coins into the machine.  The player selected a number of credits to put at risk.    

b. The player pressed a button to start a display of images that changed rapidly before coming to rest in some combination within four seconds.  

c. The machine’s percentage odds or payout setting – the percentage of credits it was pre-programmed to award for the credits risked – materially determined which images were finally displayed.  

d. The machine gave more credits, or took away the credits selected, based on the final combination of images displayed and the credits at risk.  

e. The machine had a mechanism to delete (knock off) accumulated credits by inserting a key into the machine.  The bartender had a key to knock off the credits.

f. The player could pay for more credits, or select more from remaining credits, and press the button again.  

g. Each machine gave one credit for every $.05 paid to initially play the machine.  A maximum of 64 credits could be placed at risk during each play ($3.20 maximum per play).

h. Each machine tracked how many credits had been paid to initially play the machine, how many credits had been awarded during play, and how may credits had been knocked off.   

i. Each machine had a “double-up” feature that offered the player a double-or-nothing option.  

8. Gaming seized all 11 machines and placed them in Gaming’s section of the Highway Patrol evidence facility.  Gaming made detailed written reports based on its inspection of the machines on April 19, 2001.
 

Conclusions of Law

We have jurisdiction to hear the Eagles’ petition under section 621.045.2.
  Section 313.052 sets forth the burden of proof:

A holder of any license shall be subject to imposition of penalties, suspension or revocation of such license, or other action for any act or failure to act by himself or his agents or employees, that is injurious to the public health, safety, good order and general welfare of the people of the state of Missouri, or that would discredit or tend to discredit charitable bingo operations in Missouri or the state of Missouri unless the licensee proves by clear and convincing evidence that [the licensee] is not guilty of such action.  [Gaming] shall take appropriate action against any licensee who violates the law or the rules and regulations of [Gaming]. 

(Emphasis added.)  Clear and convincing evidence is a higher standard than a preponderance of the evidence.  It requires that the Eagles’ evidence, when weighed against Gaming’s evidence, instantly tilt the scale of our deliberation in the Eagles’ favor and leave us with an abiding conviction of its truth.  In re W.S.M., 845 S.W.2d 147, 150 (Mo. App., W.D. 1993).  It is the civil equivalent of proof beyond a reasonable doubt.  In re Rauch, 18 B.R. 97, 98 (W.D. Mo. 1982).

A.

The Eagles argue that Gaming illegally searched the room where the gambling devices were found and illegally seized the machines all without a search warrant in violation of the Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution.  The Eagles further argue that we must 

therefore apply the exclusionary rule in this case and exclude all evidence regarding the Cherry Master machines.  

The Eagles specifically objected to Gaming’s Exhibits A through K (gambling device inspection summaries) on the grounds that the information was obtained through an illegal search and seizure.  We took the objection with the case.  The exclusionary rule requires that evidence obtained in violation of the Fourth Amendment cannot be used in any criminal proceeding against the victim of an illegal search and seizure.  Riche v. Director of Revenue, 987 S.W.2d 331, 333 (Mo. banc 1999).  

Missouri does not apply the exclusionary rule to any civil proceedings involving licensure suspension or revocation.  In re Littleton, 719 S.W.2d 772, 775 n.2 (Mo. banc 1986); St. Pierre v. Director of Revenue, 39 S.W.3d 576, 579 (Mo. App., S.D. 2001).  The evidence obtained as a result of the search can be used in this proceeding.  Even if the exclusionary rule would apply, the evidence obtained in this search could still be used because the bartender, an employee of the Eagles, consented to open the door when asked to do so and allowed the officers to inspect the machines.  State v. Bunch, 787 S.W.2d 859, 861 (Mo. App., E.D. 1990).  There is no evidence in the record to suggest that the bartender was coerced into opening the door.

The Eagles further argue that Gaming illegally seized the 11 machines.  The Eagles rely on United Distributors v. Department of Public Safety, 31 S.W.3d 49 (Mo. App., W.D. 2000).  In that case, the court held that the Division of Liquor Control had no statutory authority to seize non-alcohol related items, i.e. gambling machines.  Id. at 54.  Gaming cites to Regulation 11 CSR 45-30.545(1) for its justification of the seizure, which authorizes Gaming or its agents to 

seize “any bingo cards, bingo faces or pull tabs that have not been purchased from a Missouri licensed supplier [which] are declared contraband.”

We overrule the Eagles’ objection to Gaming’s Exhibits A through K and admit them into evidence.  We need not decide in this case whether that regulation authorizes the seizure of the machines from Eagles because the characteristics of the machines as described in the testimony and in Gaming’s Exhibits A through K were all obtained prior to the seizure when the officers inspected the machines before and after the owner opened the machines for inspection.

B.

Gaming argues that the Eagles are subject to discipline under section 313.052, which provides in part:

Without limiting other provisions of sections 313.005 to 313.085, the following acts or omissions may be grounds for such discipline:

(1) Failing to comply with or make provision for compliance with the provisions of sections 313.005 to 313.080, the rules and regulations of [Gaming] or any federal, state or local law or regulation[.]

(Emphasis added.)  Gaming argues that the Eagles failed to comply with Regulation 11 CSR 45-30.270(3), which provides:

Pursuant to section 313.035, RSMo, no gambling or gambling devices shall be permitted on the premises used by a bingo licensee.  The bingo licensee, its officers and agents shall be responsible for any violations which may occur.

(Emphasis added.)  The Eagles question the validity of 11 CSR 45-30.270(3) on the basis that section 313.035 does not prohibit gambling devices.  

Section 313.065, which is cited in Regulation 11 CSR 45-30.270(3)’s authority provision in the Code of State Regulations, authorizes the regulation.  It provides:

The administration of sections 313.005 to 313.080 shall be vested in [Gaming,] which shall have power to adopt and enforce rules and regulations to regulate and license the management, operation and conduct of games of bingo and participants therein and to properly administer and enforce the provisions of sections 313.005 to 313.080. . . .

(Emphasis added.)  

This Commission “has full authority” to resort to the statutes over a conflicting regulation under Bridge Data Co. v. Director of Revenue, 794 S.W.2d 204 (Mo. banc 1990), but that doctrine does not apply where the regulation does not directly and expressly conflict with a statute.  We have no authority to ignore a regulation for any other reason.  Monroe County Nursing Home Dist. v. Department of Social Servs., 884 S.W.2d 291, 293 (Mo. App., E.D. 1994).  We have no authority to declare any regulation invalid.  State Tax Comm’n v. Administrative Hearing Comm’n, 641 S.W.2d 69, 75 (Mo. banc 1982).  We agree with the Eagles that section 313.035 does not authorize Regulation 11 CSR 45-30.270(3).  However, section 313.065 does authorize that regulation, and the regulation is not contrary to the statute.    We are bound to follow Regulation 11 CSR 45-30.270(3).

Gaming argues that the Eagles failed to comply with section 572.070, which provides:

1.  A person commits the crime of possession of a gambling device if, with knowledge of the character thereof, he manufactures, sells, transports, places or possesses, or conducts or negotiates any transaction affecting or designed to affect ownership, custody or use of: 

(1) A slot machine; or 

(2) Any other gambling device, knowing or having reason to believe that it is to be used in the state of Missouri in the advancement of unlawful gambling activity. 

2.  Possession of a gambling device is a class A misdemeanor. 

Neither party offered evidence regarding whether the Eagles or any of its members had any “knowledge of the character” of the gambling devices at issue in this case.  The Eagles have the burden of proof by clear and convincing evidence that it or any of its members did not have “knowledge of the character” of the gambling devices.  However, a mere allegation by Gaming in its Answer is not evidence.  Section 572.070 has the effect of banning gambling devices in general.  Eagles had gambling devices on its premises.  The failure to comply with that ban is cause for discipline under section 313.052(1).
   

C.

Gaming asserts that the machines are gambling devices.  Generally, section 572.010(5) defines a gambling device as:

any device, machine, paraphernalia or equipment that is used or usable in the playing phases of any gambling activity, whether that activity consists of gambling between persons or gambling by a person with a machine. . . .

Section 572.010(4) provides the following definition of gambling:

[A] person engages in “gambling” when he stakes or risks something of value upon the outcome of a contest of chance or a future contingent event not under his control or influence, upon an agreement or understanding that he will receive something of value in the event of a certain outcome.  Gambling does not include . . . playing an amusement device that confers only an immediate right of replay not exchangeable for something of value. . . .

Section 572.010(12) provides that money is “something of value.”  

In the case of Thole v. Westfall, 682 S.W.2d 33, 36-37 (Mo. App., E.D. 1984), the court stated that some devices are gambling devices per se.  In Thole, the government wanted to confiscate some video poker and blackjack machines.  The government could only do that if the owner had reason to know that they were to be used in gambling.  The video machines only accumulated points, and there was no evidence that any money changed hands.  The court stated that the machine’s appearance and operational mechanisms provided circumstantial evidence that the machine was for gambling.  That evidence was so strong that the court held that the owners knew the machines were intended for use in gambling, even though no one ever saw the machines used in gambling, and allowed the government to confiscate the machines.  The court called such a machine a gambling device per se.  Id.

To be a gambling device per se, the machine must be one in which:  (1) players stake or risk something of value, (2) chance is a material factor, and (3) success is rewarded by something of value.  Id.  There is an exception if a machine is an amusement device that confers only an immediate right of replay not exchangeable for something of value.  Id. at 38.  In Thole, the machines were gambling devices per se because (1) players wagered credits they had bought or won (2) on an outcome that electronic circuitry randomly generated (3) for more points.  Id.  The knock-off mechanisms were only useful to exchange the points for cash, which shows that the points were not merely for free games.  Id.    

  
The same is true of the Eagles’ machines.  Playing consisted of betting points that were initially purchased with, and could be redeemable for, cash.  The win or loss was not determined by the player’s skill against the random draw of cards or throw of dice, but against the machine’s specifically programmed ratio.  We conclude that the Eagles possessed 11 gambling devices.  

D.

The Eagles argue that the machines were not on the premises because they were in a room separate from the room where the bingo games were held.  However, Gaming’s Regulation 11 CSR 45-30.270(1) provides:

The word premises, as used in sections 313.005 to 313.085, RSMo, means an entire permanently affixed structure.  The division of a structure by floors, rooms, or areas to create multiple premises for the conduct of bingo is prohibited.  A bingo licensee must receive approval from the commission prior to using any structure in which it intends to play bingo.


(Emphasis added.)  The testimony and exhibits show that the Eagles were in possession of at least the entire first floor of the building, including the offices, kitchen, storage rooms, game rooms, bingo hall, bar and lounge area, locked room, and restrooms.
  The entire building was licensed by Gaming without exception, as a place where bingo could be conducted, including the locked room accessible only by members by electronic card swipe.  Therefore, in accordance with the rule, we have no other choice but to conclude that the 11 gambling devices were on the premises licensed for bingo.  


We recognize the Eagles’ argument that Regulation 11 CSR 45-30.270(1) is overly broad and unconstitutional.  As an executive branch agency, this Commission does not have jurisdiction to rule on the constitutional validity of a regulation.  Cocktail Fortune v. Supervisor of Liquor Control, 994 S.W.2d 955, 957 (Mo. banc 1999). 

Summary


We conclude that the Eagles’ bingo license is subject to discipline under section 313.052(1) for violating Regulation 11 CSR 45-30.270(3) and for violating the ban set forth in section 572.070 by possessing 11 gambling devices on its licensed premises.


SO ORDERED on May 6, 2002.



________________________________



WILLARD C. REINE



Commissioner

�Tr. at 22-23.


�Gaming does not allege, and we do not find, that any gambling actually occurred on the premises, only that the Eagles possessed gambling devices on the premises.  


�Resp. Exs. A-K.





�Statutory references are to the 2000 Revised Statutes of Missouri.


�An examination of the statutes and regulations pertaining to Gaming’s authority to seize items during a bingo inspection demonstrates considerable similarity to the statutes described in United Distributors.  However, the court in United Distributors stated that although the Division of Liquor Control did not have authority to seize the machines, that agency could still discipline the liquor license under Chapter 311.  31 S.W.3d at 54.


�Gaming further asserted in its post-hearing brief that the Eagles’ bingo license is subject to discipline under section 313.052(1) for possession of gambling devices in violation of the federal Gambling Devices Act, 15 U.S.C. sections 1171-1178.  However, the answer filed by Gaming cites no violation of federal law.  Due process of law restricts our bases for determining discipline to those of which Gaming provided notice sufficient for the Eagles to prepare a defense.  Duncan v. Missouri Bd. For Arch’ts, Prof’l Eng’rs & Land Surv’rs, 744 S.W.2d 524, 538-39 (Mo. App., E.D. 1988).  Therefore, we have power to determine discipline only on the bases set forth in Gaming’s answer.  Ballew v. Ainsworth, 670 S.W.2d 94, 103 (Mo. App., E.D. 1984).


�The record does not reflect whether there was a basement or one or more upper floors or whether the Eagles actually owned the building.
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